THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Circuit Court Case No. 2022-CP-26-01323

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-000192

---

**HSS Barefoot, LLC d/b/a Century 21 Barefoot, R&G Corp. d/b/a Century 21 The Harrelson Group, Kevin Mills, individually, Mills, LLC, and Greg Harrelson, individually, Respondents,**

v.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- 1) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION OR OTHERWISE COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN ISSUING THE CONTEMPT ORDERS?
- 2) WHETHER THE SANCTIONS FOR CONTEMPT IMPOSED BY THE TRIAL COURT ARE UNREASONABLE, OVERLY BURDENSOME OR OPPRESSIVE, OR IMPERMISSIBLY BEYOND THE SCOPE AND INTENT OF THE TEMPORARY INJUNCTION UPON WHICH THEY ARE BASED?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Appellant, Joel D. Barber (“Appellant” or “Barber”), is a residential real estate agent in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina (R. p. 65). He was affiliated as an independent contractor with Respondent R&G Corp. d/b/a Century 21 The Harrelson Group (“Century 21”) for approximately five (5) years, from March 14, 2017 through February 7, 2022 (R. p. 65, 68). The business relationship between Barber and Century 21 was memorialized in an Independent Contractor and Broker Agreement (R. p. 68; R. pp. 84-87).

On February 7, 2022, Barber was terminated by Century 21 (R. p. 68). Essentially, Respondents accuse Barber of having improperly accessed and used information belonging to them, including clients, client lists, leads, prospects, etc., pertaining to the parties’ business as real estate agents or brokerages, and then converting the same to his own use and benefit, in the form of future listings and commissions generated from real estate sales, all in violation of the Independent Contractor and Broker Agreement (R. p. 70; R. pp. 72-73). In pertinent part, the Independent Contractor and Broker Agreement provides as follows:

Independent Contractor shall not, after the termination of this contract, use to his/her own advantage, or the advantage of any competing person or corporation, any marketing materials, business plans, scripts, flyers, websites, website providers, email templates, email scripts, listing strategies, reduction letters or subscribe to any systems, CRM’s, software or cloudware that they were introduced to and/or subscribed to during this business relationship and any information gained for or from files or business of Broker and not generally known.

R. pp. 84-87 (emphasis added).

This exception for information that is “generally known” is especially relevant to this appeal and is discussed in the Arguments section of this Brief.

Through this action, Respondents seek the entry of judgment against Barber for actual, compensatory, lost profit, and punitive damages; statutory damages, including treble damages; equitable and preliminary, temporary, and permanent injunctive relief; attorneys’ fees, costs, and interest; and all consequential, actual, and special damages arising from or related to Barber’s conduct (R. p. 82). Barber has denied all liability to Respondents for the claims and causes of action alleged against him, and has asserted a Counterclaim for certain unpaid commissions due and owing to him by Century 21 (R. pp. 88-107).

### ***The Temporary Injunction***

Contemporaneously with the filing of their original complaint, on March 2, 2022, Respondents filed a Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order and Temporary Injunction. Following a hearing on said motion, on April 8, 2022, the trial court issued a Temporary Injunction (the “Injunction”). As relevant to this appeal, the Injunction found that Respondents made *prima facie* showings of entitlement to injunctive relief, and enjoined Barber from each of the following:

- accessing or using the personal property of Respondents;
- using any information to which he gained access to by being an independent contractor and working with any of the Respondents between March 14, 2017 and February 7, 2022 including, but not limited to, leads, clients, prospects, customers, marketing materials, business plans, scripts, flyers, websites, website providers, email templates, email scripts, listing strategies, reduction letters, system subscriptions, CRMs [Customer Relationship Management technology], software or cloudware, and files;
- initiating contact or communication with leads, clients, prospects, and customers he gained access to by being an independent contractor and working with any of the Respondents between March 14, 2017 and February 7, 2022; and

- selling or disclosing any information to which he gained access to by being an independent contractor and working with any of the Respondents between March 14, 2017 and February 7, 2022 including, but not limited to, leads, clients, prospects, customers, marketing materials, business plans, scripts, flyers, websites, website providers, email templates, email scripts, listing strategies, reduction letters, system subscriptions, CRMs [Customer Relationship Management technology], software or cloudware, and files.

R. pp. 7-9. Respondents subsequently posted a \$100,000 bond as required security for the Injunction.

### *The Motion for Contempt and Sanctions*

On July 25, 2022, Respondents filed a Motion for Contempt and Sanctions (“the Motion for Contempt”), alleging that Barber violated the terms of the Temporary Injunction. The Motion for Contempt was initially supported by affidavits from Greg Harrelson (“Harrelson”), Susan Brown and Rob Safa. On October 5, 2022, Barber submitted his own affidavit in opposition to the Motion for Contempt. Barber consented to have certain exhibits to the Motion for Contempt filed under seal (R. pp. 13-18). However, for reasons unknown to the undersigned, Respondents failed to provide the sealed documents to the trial court before the hearing on the Motion for Contempt. On November 11, 2022, a third affidavit from Harrelson was submitted in support of the Motion for Contempt, which greatly expanded the basis for the motion. In response thereto, Barber submitted a second affidavit on November 15, 2022. The Motion for Contempt was heard on November 16, 2022. A Form 4 Order was issued that very same day, stating that the Motion for Contempt was granted. A formal written order was subsequently entered on November 22, 2022 (the “Contempt Order”). In pertinent part, the Contempt Order directed Barber (1) to “turn over all real estate business-related data devices and databases to Plaintiffs for the Plaintiffs’ expert, Clark Walton, to image, preserve, and conduct a searching and reporting investigation on all file sources, using generally accepted forensic tools and methodologies”, (2) to hold all real estate

commissions he has received or will receive since February 7, 2022, in trust pending final resolution of the action, and (3) to refrain from using his real estate business-related databases during the pendency of the action (R. p. 24).

***The Motion to Reconsider and Subsequent Notice of Appeal***

On November 22, 2022, Barber timely filed a Motion to Reconsider the Contempt Order. Prior to the hearing thereon, the parties submitted additional affidavits, memoranda of law, the transcript of the hearing on the Motion for Temporary Injunction, and the sealed documents pursuant to the parties' consent order that were not provided to the trial court prior to the hearing. The Motion to Reconsider was heard on January 3, 2023. Upon reconsideration, the trial court agreed to modify the Contempt Order in limited respects (R. pp. 26-27). On January 26, 2023, a formal written order was entered (the "Amended Contempt Order"). The primary, if not the only, change made by the Amended Contempt Order as compared to the Contempt Order was to expand upon the sanction requiring Barber to turn over all real estate business-related data devices for inspection. In that regard, the trial court ruled that the imaging, preservation, and searching and reporting (i.e., the inspection) of Barber's devices and databases could be conducted by "some other third-party examiner as agreed upon by the parties" in lieu of Plaintiffs' expert, Clark Walton (R. pp. 31-32). The Amended Contempt Order also addressed some procedural aspects of the inspection pertaining to privilege and confidentiality which were not contained in the Contempt Order. R. pp. 31-32. However, the Amended Contempt Order did not amend in any respect the sanctions requiring Barber to hold all real estate commissions he has received or will receive since February 7, 2022, in trust pending final resolution of the action, and to refrain from using his real estate business-related databases during the pendency of the action. While the parties subsequently

agreed to a third-party examiner, the inspection of Barber's devices has yet to occur, and the parties are still in discussion regarding the protocol order to be applied by the examiner.

On February 7, 2023, Barber timely filed a Notice of Appeal of the Contempt Order and the Amended Contempt Order. This appeal is now ripe for adjudication.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A finding of contempt is immediately appealable. *Ex Parte Cannon*, 385 S.C. 643, 660, 685 S.E.2d 814, 823 (Ct. App. 2009). "A decision on contempt rests within the sound discretion of the circuit court." *Id.* (citation omitted). "It is within the circuit court's discretion to punish by fine or imprisonment every act of contempt before the court." *Id.* (citation omitted). On appeal, this Court should reverse the contempt decision if it is without evidentiary support or if the trial court otherwise abused its discretion. *Id.* (citation omitted).

### **ARGUMENTS**

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AND COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN ISSUING THE CONTEMPT ORDERS.**

##### **A. South Carolina Law on Contempt, Generally.**

"The circuit court may punish by fine or imprisonment, at the discretion of the court, all contempts of authority in any cause or hearing before the same." S.C. Code Ann. § 14-5-320. "[C]ontempt is an extreme measure and the power to adjudge a person in contempt is not to be lightly asserted." *Hook v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 439 S.C. 52, 74, 885 S.E.2d 442, 454 (Ct. App. 2023). "All courts have the inherent power to punish for contempt, which is essential to the preservation of order in judicial proceedings, and to the enforcement of the judgments, orders and writs of the courts, and consequently to the due administration of justice." *Ex parte Cannon*, 385 S.C. 643, 660, 685 S.E.2d 814, 824 (Ct. App. 2009). "Contempt results from the willful disobedience of a court order, and before a court may find a person in contempt, the record must

clearly and specifically reflect the contemptuous conduct.” *Id.* at 660-61, 685 S.E.2d at 824. “A willful act is one done voluntarily and intentionally with the specific intent to do something the law forbids, or with the specific intent to fail to do something the law requires to be done; that is to say, with bad purpose either to disobey or disregard the law.” *Id.* at 661, 685 S.E.2d at 824. “Once the moving party has made out a prima facie case for contempt, the burden then shifts to the respondent to establish his defense and inability to comply with the order.” *Id.* “If, through no fault of his own, the contemnor is unable to obey a court order, the contemnor cannot be held in contempt.” *Id.*

Contempt can be either civil or criminal. *Id.*; see also *DiMarco v. DiMarco*, 393 S.C. 604, 608, 713 S.E.2d 631, 634 (2011) (“A sanction is either civil or criminal; it cannot be both because they serve different purposes.”). “The distinction between civil and criminal contempt is crucial because criminal contempt triggers additional constitutional safeguards.” *Ex parte Cannon*, 385 S.C. at 661, 685 S.E.2d at 824. “Intent for purposes of criminal contempt is subjective, not objective, and must necessarily be ascertained from all the acts, words, and circumstances surrounding the occurrence.” *Id.* “Additionally, civil contempt must be proven by clear and convincing evidence, while criminal contempt must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* (citing *Poston v. Poston*, 331 S.C. 106, 133, 502 S.E.2d 86, 89 (1998)). “Clear and convincing evidence is that degree of proof which will produce in the fact finder a firm belief as to the allegations sought to be established.” *Satcher v. Satcher*, 351 S.C. 477, 483, 570 S.E.2d 535, 538 (Ct. App. 2002). The clear and convincing evidentiary standard required for civil contempt is a lower standard than proof beyond a reasonable doubt required for criminal contempt. *Id.*

“In determining whether the contempt is civil or criminal, the major factor to consider is the purpose for which the power is exercised, including the nature of the relief and the purpose for

which the sentence is imposed.” *Ex parte Cannon*, 385 S.C. at 662, 385 S.E.2d at 824 (citing *Poston*, 331 S.C. at 111, 502 S.E.2d at 88). “The purpose of civil contempt is to coerce the defendant to do the thing required by the order for the benefit of the complainant, while the primary purposes of criminal contempt are to preserve the court’s authority and to punish for disobedience of its orders.” *Id.* “An unconditional penalty is criminal in nature because it is solely and exclusively punitive in nature.” *Poston*, 331 S.C. at 111, 502 S.E.2d at 88. “In civil contempt cases, the sanctions are conditioned on compliance with the court’s order.” *Id.* at 112, 502 S.E.2d at 89. “The conditional nature of the punishment renders the relief civil in nature because the contemnor can end the sentence and discharge himself at any moment by doing what he had previously refused to do.” *Id.*

The *Poston* Court gives several examples of civil contempt sanctions and criminal contempt sanctions. *Id.* at 114-15, 502 S.E.2d at 90. Unfortunately, none of the examples given bear any resemblance to the sanctions imposed in this case (i.e., Barber was not ordered to pay a fine or to serve any jail time). Thus, the Contempt Order and the Amended Contempt Order arguably reflect an abuse of discretion in that the sanctions imposed exceed the trial court’s authority to impose sanctions for contempt, which should be limited to a fine or jail time, or an order to pay the other party’s costs and attorneys’ fees incurred in enforcing the court’s prior order. *See id.*; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 14-5-320 (“The circuit court may punish by fine or imprisonment, at the discretion of the court, all contempts of authority in any cause or hearing before the same.” (emphasis added)).

**B. The Trial Court Failed to Say Whether the Contempt was Civil or Criminal, but Applied the Evidentiary Standard for Civil Contempt.**

The Motion for Contempt is void of any reference to civil contempt versus criminal contempt, and neither the Contempt Order nor the Amended Contempt Order states whether the

sanctions imposed against Barber are civil or criminal in nature. However, both contempt orders recite that “this Court finds *clear and convincing evidence* that Defendant Barber willfully, voluntarily, and intentionally violated the Injunction ...” (emphasis added), which suggests that the trial court applied the standard of proof required for civil contempt (R. pp. 23-24; R. p. 31). There is nothing anywhere in the record to suggest that the trial court applied the heightened evidentiary standard of proof beyond a reasonable doubt as required for the imposition of criminal contempt sanctions.

**C. The Contempt Sanctions Imposed are More Likely Criminal than Civil.**

The sanctions imposed by the trial court are more likely criminal than civil because they are unconditional and punitive in nature, and there is nothing that Barber can do to “purge” himself of the contempt through compliance with the Injunction. The sanction requiring Barber to hold all of his commissions earned, and to be earned in the future, after February 7, 2022, in trust until final resolution of this action is clearly unconditional in nature. Moreover, it is also punitive in nature because it completely deprives Barber of the use and benefit of his commissions and leaves him without any real means to pay his living expenses and other debts. This sanction does nothing to coerce Barber’s compliance with the Injunction, because regardless of whether any commission is rightfully or wrongfully earned, Barber must still hold it in trust until final resolution of this action. Nor is there any means or procedure by which Barber can exempt himself from this directive, such as by proving that the commission was rightfully earned through no violation of the Injunction, or through the posting of a bond in lieu of holding commissions in trust. The same arguments can be made regarding the sanction requiring that Barber refrain from using his real estate business-related databases during the pendency of the action.

The sanction requiring Barber to turn over all real estate business-related data devices and databases for inspection is also more likely criminal than civil because it, too, is unconditional in nature and does nothing to coerce Barber's compliance with the Injunction. Moreover, it is tantamount to an order regarding discovery when no motion to compel discovery was duly noticed or scheduled for hearing.<sup>1</sup> The Contempt Orders do not appear to be imposing sanctions under Rule 37, SCRPC, as a result of any failure to participate in discovery. In this regard, it is a punitive sanction seemingly designed to punish Barber by expediting and circumventing the normal discovery and motions process. It does not seek to coerce Barber's compliance with the Injunction, but instead seeks to provide Respondents with a means of verifying whether Barber has done so.

**D. The Contempt Sanctions Potentially Violate Barber's Due Process Rights.**

As observed in *Poston*, sanctions that punish a party for future violations without first holding a hearing to determine if the party willfully violated the order on that future occasion potentially violates the party's due process rights. 331 S.C. at 116, 502 S.E.2d at 91 (citing, *inter alia*, *Bloom v. Illinois*, 391 U.S. 194 (1968) (most procedural requirements applicable to other criminal trials are applicable to a hearing on criminal contempt including notice and an opportunity to be heard)). By requiring Barber to hold all future commissions in trust, the trial court has effectively determined that all future listings and commissions will be obtained by Barber in violation of the Injunction, without affording Barber notice or opportunity to be heard on whether those future commissions are actually obtained in a manner that does not violate the Injunction. Barber cannot be punished for future violations of the Injunction unless those violations are

---

<sup>1</sup> Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Compel on October 31, 2022, seeking an order compelling Barber "to permit inspection of items responsive to Plaintiffs' First Request for Inspection of Property", but this motion was not noticed or heard prior to the filing of the Notice of Appeal. The motion was eventually heard after the Notice of Appeal was filed and was denied.

properly established by the requisite evidentiary standard. Accordingly, the trial court abused its discretion to the extent its orders require Barber to hold future commissions in trust.

**E. The Trial Court Failed to Apply the Appropriate Evidentiary Standard to the Motion for Contempt and Sanctions.**

The clear and convincing standard applied by the trial court (as recited in the Contempt Orders) only applies to civil contempt and is a lesser standard than the proof beyond a reasonable doubt standard required for criminal contempt. If this Court agrees that the contempt sanctions are criminal in nature (or even if one of the sanctions is criminal in nature, or if the sanctions are hybrid in nature), then the trial court failed to apply the correct evidentiary standard, which is an abuse of discretion warranting reversal. *Poston*, 331 S.C. at 115, 502 S.E.2d at 91 (reversing because the contempt order was not clear and it was impossible to determine whether the contempt sanction was criminal or civil).

**F. Regardless of Whether the Contempt is Deemed Civil or Criminal, the Evidence Presented by Respondents Fails to Meet the Evidentiary Standard Required for Either, Especially When Considering the Rebuttal Evidence Submitted by Barber.**

In both the Contempt Order and the Amended Contempt Order, the trial court states that its finding of contempt is “[b]ased upon this Court’s review of Rob Safa, Susan Brown, Defendant Barber, and Plaintiff Harrelson’s affidavits, Defendant Barber’s deposition testimony from November 15, 2022 represented by Plaintiffs’ counsel, and all arguments of counsel” (R. pp. 23-24; R. p. 31). Notably absent from this list is the Affidavit of Sandra Churgin, Barber’s Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Reconsider and accompanying exhibits, and the Transcript of the hearing on the Motion for Temporary Injunction. Thus, it is unknown whether and to what extent the trial court considered these other submissions. Regardless, it is clear from a full examination of all materials submitted that there was not clear and convincing evidence, yet

alone proof beyond a reasonable doubt, of Barber's willful violation of the Injunction, as required to support a finding of contempt under any standard.

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