RECEIVED

Dec 11 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

WILLIAM H. SEALS, JR., CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE
Circuit Court Case No. 2022-CP-26-01323

Appellate Case No. 2023-000192

HSS Barefoot, LLC d/b/a Century 21 Barefoot, R&G Corp d/b/a Century 21
The Harrelson Group, Kevin Mills, individually, Mills, LLC, and Greg
Harrelson, individually, Respondents,

v.

Joel D. Barber, individually and as licensed realtor, Barber Real Estate, Inc.,
Nicholas Fitzpatrick, as licensed realty, Darcy Varney, individually, and as
broker-in-charge, eXp Realty, LLC, James Ray Lunsford, individually and as

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

ARGUMENT

Appellant raises several new issues in his appeal that he never raised to the circuit court. Under South Carolina’s well-established preservation rules, those new issues are not preserved for this Court’s review. On the preserved issues, Appellant makes two arguments: (i) the circuit court

should not have found Appellant in contempt of the Temporary Injunction based on the available evidence, and (ii) the circuit court exceeded its authority by imposing the sanctions in the Amended Contempt Order. But on both fronts, Appellant fails to demonstrate reversible error under the applicable standard of review. Therefore, this Court should affirm the Amended Contempt Order.

I. Appellant Failed to Preserve Several Issues Raised in His Appeal

Appellant raises three (3) issues for the first time in his Final Brief. Specifically, Appellant contends the circuit court: (1) applied the incorrect evidentiary standard for finding Appellant in contempt; (2) exceeded its authority by imposing sanctions that did not come in the form of a fine, imprisonment, or attorneys' fees and costs; and (3) "potentially" violated Appellant's due process rights through its sanctions. The Court can easily dispose of these issues and arguments, as they were never raised to the circuit court and are not preserved for appellate review.

A. Law on Preservation

"It is well settled that, but for a very few exceptional circumstances, an appellate court cannot address an issue unless it was raised to and ruled upon by the trial court." *Lucas v. Rawl Family Ltd. P'ship*, 359 S.C. 505, 510-11, 598 S.E.2d 712, 715 (2004). "Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." *l'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). The prohibition on addressing issues raised for the first time on appeal extends to constitutional violations, including due process claims. *State v. Passmore*, 363 S.C. 568, 584, 611 S.E.2d 273, 282 (2005) (quoting *Bakala v. Bakala*, 352 S.C. 612, 625, 576 S.E.2d 156, 163 (2003)).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has explained the mechanics of issue preservation as follows:

The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred. This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments.

l'On, L.L.C., 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724. Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides the procedural mechanism for requesting that a circuit court alter or amend its order prior to a party seeking appellate review. “The purpose of Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, to alter or amend the judgment, is to request the trial judge to reconsider matters properly encompassed in a decision on the merits.” *Coward Hund Const. Co., Inc. v. Ball Corp.*, 336 S.C. 1, 4, 518 S.E.2d 56, 58 (Ct. App. 1999) (quoting *Arnold v. State*, 309 S.C. 157, 172, 420 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1992)) (internal quotations omitted). “When an appellant neither raises an issue at trial nor through a Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, motion, the issue is not preserved for appellate review.” *McComb v. Conard*, 394 S.C. 416, 426, 715 S.E.2d 662, 667 (Ct. App. 2011).

There are exceptions to the issue preservation requirement. For example, lack of subject matter jurisdiction is an issue that may be raised at any time. *Town of Hilton Head v. Godwin*, 370 S.C. 221, 223, 634 S.E.2d 59, 60-61 (Ct. App. 2006). Additionally, the South Carolina Supreme Court has noted that it “does not require parties to engage in futile actions in order to preserve issues for appellate review.” *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 415, 529 S.E.2d 543, 547 (2000). Finally, this Court has stated that it will not “apply the rules of error preservation so rigidly as to bar an otherwise properly presented issue,” noting that the Court will correct scrivener’s errors when warranted. *Chastain v. Hiltabidle*, 381 S.C. 508, 516-17, 673 S.E.2d 826, 830-31 (Ct. App. 2009).

B. Appellant’s New Issues Are Not Preserved

The same day the circuit court issued the Initial Contempt Order, Appellant filed his Rule 59(e) Motion to alter or amend the Initial Contempt Order. In Appellant’s memorandum of law in support of the Rule 59(e) Motion, Appellant raised the following issues:

1. Appellant argued that he did not violate the Temporary Injunction because he obtained leads and listings from independent sources (rather than relying on the materials subject to the Temporary Injunction). Thus, the circuit court erred in finding Appellant in contempt of the Temporary Injunction. **(R. 291-93)**.
2. Appellant argued that compliance with the Initial Contempt Order would result in disclosure of privileged and confidential information, and would also violate the parties’ prior agreements about inspection of electronic devices in discovery. **(R. 293-97)**.
3. Appellant argued that the sanctions the circuit court included in the Initial Contempt Order were overly vague and unreasonable, and compliance was arguably impossible. Appellant further argued that the sanctions were tantamount to “an illegal non-compete provision.” **(R. 297-301)**.

Upon review, the circuit court partially granted Appellant’s Rule 59(e) Motion and amended the Initial Contempt Order to address Appellant’s arguments regarding disclosure of privileged and confidential information.

The issues Appellant raised in his Rule 59(e) Motion are preserved for appellate review. However, Appellant raises three (3) new issues and arguments in his Final Brief that he **never raised** to the circuit court:

1. Appellant argues that the contempt sanctions are “more likely” criminal in nature, and therefore the circuit court erred by applying the evidentiary standard for civil contempt. **(App. Final Brief, filed Dec. 7, 2023, pp. 8-9)**.
2. Appellant argues that the circuit court’s sanctions “arguably reflect an abuse of discretion” because the sanctions exceed the circuit court’s authority, which is limited to imposing sanctions in the form of a fine, imprisonment, or attorneys’ fees and costs. **(Id. at pp. 7 & 17)**.
3. Appellant argues that the contempt sanctions “potentially” violate Appellant’s due process rights by holding future commissions in trust without affording Appellant notice and opportunity to be heard on whether the future commissions violate the Temporary Injunction. **(Id. at pp. 9-10)**.

Again, Appellant’s Rule 59(e) Motion did not in any way raise, much less argue, these issues.

Under South Carolina law, these issues are not preserved for this Court’s review because the issues were not raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court. These new issues do not fall under any exception to the error preservation requirement. It would not have been futile to raise these issues to the circuit court and request a ruling in Appellant’s Rule 59(e) Motion, and the total absence of these issues in Appellant’s Rule 59(e) Motion cannot be characterized as a scrivener’s error. Because the issues are not preserved and do not fall under any exception, the Court must disregard them.

II. Were the Court to Consider Appellant’s Unpreserved Issues, Appellant’s Arguments Would Fail

In an abundance of caution, Respondents will address the three (3) issues Appellant raised for the first time on appeal, notwithstanding the fact that they are not preserved.

A. Civil versus Criminal Contempt

Appellant first complains that the circuit court did not state whether the contempt sanctions were civil or criminal, although Appellants concedes that the circuit court referenced the civil contempt evidentiary standard when weighing the evidence. (**App. Final Brief, filed Dec. 7, 2023, p. 7-8**). Appellant does not cite to any requirement that the circuit court explicitly characterize the type of sanction it is imposing (civil versus criminal). Regardless, the circuit court citing to the evidentiary standard it employed is sufficient to reveal that the circuit court intended to (and did in fact) hold Appellant in civil contempt.

Appellant next argues that the circuit court’s contempt sanctions are “*more likely*” criminal than civil, which matters because the evidentiary standards for civil and criminal contempt are different. As a threshold issue, if Appellant cannot assert with any certainty that the circuit court’s application of the civil contempt evidentiary standard was an error, then the Appellant has

insufficient grounds for requesting this Court to overrule the circuit court for an abuse of discretion.¹

Moving to the substance of the issue, Appellant’s arguments about why the Amended Contempt Order “more likely” imposes criminal rather than civil sanctions are unpersuasive.

i. Relevant Law on Civil Versus Criminal Contempt

“In determining whether a contempt sanction is criminal or civil, one must identify the purpose for which the sanction is imposed. Whereas civil contempt is either coercive or remedial in nature, criminal contempt is purely punitive.” *DiMarco*, 393 S.C. at 607, 713 S.E.2d at 633. “A sanction is either civil or criminal; it cannot be both because they serve different purposes.” *Id.* at 608, 713 S.E.2d at 634. In the civil contempt context, “the punishment is remedial and for the *benefit of the complainant*,” whereas when a court finds a party is in criminal contempt, “the sentence is punitive and meant to vindicate the *authority of the court*.” *Ex parte Cannon*, 385 S.C. 643, 662, 685 S.E.2d 814, 824 (Ct. App. 2009) (emphasis added). When the contempt sanction comes in the form of a fine, “it is punitive when it is paid to the court. However, a fine that is payable to the court may be remedial when the contemnor can avoid paying the fine simply by performing the affirmative act required by the court’s order.” *Poston v. Poston*, 331 S.C. 106, 112, 502 S.E.2d 86, 89 (1998). Alternatively, “[i]f the sanction is a fine, it is remedial and civil if paid to the complainant *even though* the contemnor has no opportunity to purge himself of the fine.”

¹ Notably, Appellant twice previously conceded that the appropriate evidentiary standard for Respondents’ contempt motion was “clear and convincing evidence,” indicating that Appellant agreed that the sanctions were civil in nature. (**R. 173, lines 9-11**); (**Appellant’s Ver. Pet. for Writ of Supersedeas, filed Apr. 3, 2023, p. 4**) (“Upon information and belief, the Court below failed to appropriately consider such evidence and/or failed to apply the correct standard of review (clear and convincing evidence) to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Contempt.”).

Id. (emphasis added). This is because the purpose of a fine payable to the complainant is meant to benefit the complainant, not to vindicate the authority of the court.

Similar to the civil and criminal cases generally, the evidentiary burden differs between civil and criminal contempt. “[C]ivil contempt must be proven by clear and convincing evidence, while criminal contempt must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Ex Parte Cannon*, 385 S.C. at 661, 685 S.E.2d at 824 (internal quotations omitted). In both scenarios, the moving party bears the initial burden. “Once the moving party has made out a prima facie case for contempt, the burden then shifts to the respondent to establish his defense and inability to comply with the order.” *Id.*

ii. The Contempt Sanctions Here are Civil, Not Criminal

The Amended Contempt Order imposes three sanctions as a result of Appellant’s continued violations of the Temporary Injunction: (1) Appellant must turn over his business-related data, devices, and databases to a third party examiner for imaging, preservation, and investigation; (2) Appellant must hold in trust all real-estate commissions received since February 7, 2022 until the resolution of this case; and (3) Appellant is enjoined from using the databases at issue in this case during the pendency of the action. (**R. 31-32**).

Appellant argues that because these sanctions are “punitive” and Appellant cannot purge himself of the sanctions through compliance with the Temporary Injunction, the sanctions are criminal and require a heightened evidentiary standard.

Appellant applies a far too narrow reading of the law governing civil versus criminal contempt and misapprehends the importance of the *purpose to be served* by the sanctions. As noted in *Poston*, a finding of contempt is not automatically criminal simply because the contemnor cannot purge himself of the sanction through compliance with the underlying order; another

purpose of civil contempt is to remediate harm to the complainant. *Poston*, 331 S.C. at 112-13, 502 S.E.2d at 89. Here, Respondents demonstrated to the circuit court that Appellant continues to use, contact, and disclose the leads at issue in this case, in violation of the Temporary Injunction. Respondents also demonstrated to the circuit court that Appellant's actions are harmful to Respondents. As such, the Court used its discretion to craft sanctions meant to benefit the Respondents (*i.e.*, the "complainants" for purposes of the First Motion for Contempt) and remediate their continued losses as a result of Appellant's violations. This is the very essence of civil contempt.

Had the circuit court wanted to instead punish Appellant with criminal sanctions, it could have done so. For example, if the circuit court had intended to merely punish Appellant for bad behavior, the circuit court could have imposed on Appellant an unconditional fine payable to the circuit court or imposed jail time for a finite period of time. But the circuit court did not do that. Instead, the circuit court ordered Appellant to hold his real estate commissions in trust during the pendency of this case. This is clearly meant to benefit Respondents by ensuring that Appellant does not spend his ill-gained commissions and prevent Respondents from a meaningful recovery upon prevailing in this case. Similarly, requiring Appellant to discontinue his use of the databases at issue during the pendency of this case and to provide Respondents access to the same for inspection and preservation are meant to benefit Respondents and prevent continued violations of the Temporary Injunction, not to punish Appellant and vindicate the authority of the court.

For these reasons, the Amended Contempt Order imposes sanctions for civil contempt and therefore the circuit court did not err in applying the "clear and convincing evidence" standard to Respondents' First Motion for Contempt.

B. Circuit Court's Authority to Craft Sanctions

Appellant erroneously suggests that the circuit court's authority to impose sanctions is limited to imposing fines, imprisonment, and attorneys' fees and costs. (**App. Final Brief, filed Dec. 7, 2023, pp. 7 & 17**). Appellant misapprehends the sources of the circuit court's authority to impose sanctions and ignores case-law demonstrating the extent of the circuit court's authority to craft sanctions appropriate for the case at hand.

As Appellant correctly cites, South Carolina circuit courts are statutorily empowered to "punish by fine or imprisonment, at the discretion of the court, all contempts of authority in any cause or hearing before the same." S.C. Code Ann. § 14-5-320. However, Appellant fails to acknowledge the relevant cases explicitly affirming that circuit courts have inherent discretion **in addition to** their statutory authority "to punish for offenses that are calculated to obstruct, degrade, and undermine the administration of justice." *Brandt*, 368 S.C. at 628, 630 S.E.2d at 264; *see also*, *Ex Parte Cannon*, 385 S.C. at 661, 685 S.E.2d at 824. "All courts have the inherent power to punish for contempt, which is essential to the preservation of order in judicial proceedings, and to the enforcement of the judgments, orders and writs of the courts, and consequently to the due administration of justice." *Hook*, 439 S.C. at 74, 885 S.E.2d at 454 (quoting in part *Ex Parte Cannon*, 385 S.C. at 660, 685 S.E.2d 824).

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